ASSIGNMENTS OR ERROR 


1. 	 The Court convicted Vincent Scott Smith Jr. of felony murder and conspiracy to commit 

robbery with insufficient evidence of guilt. 

2. 	 The prosecuting attorney erroneously argued in closing argument that DNA evidence 

identified the Defendant Vincent Scott Smith, Jr. when the actual DNA evidence simply 

failed to exclude him as a suspect in the case. 

3. 	 There was no evidence to support a finding robbery ofMichael Garcia or that anything was 

physically taken from Michael Garcia either before or after his death. 

4. 	 The only witness that testified to any elements of the alleged robbery gave pnor

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner, Vincent Smith, was indicted by the Berkeley County Grand Jury in the February 

2015 Term of Court on one (1) count murder, one (1) count felony murder, one (1) count robbery 

1st degree, and one (1) count conspiracy to commit robbery. The indictment was issued February 

19,2015. 

Petitioner proceeded to trial and was convicted on October 1,2015. He was convicted of 

one (1) count of felony murder and one (1) count of conspiracy to commit robbery. He did file a 

motion for new trial. On January 7, 2016, Petitioner was sentenced to natural life without 
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possibility of parole in the Department of Corrections. The sentencing order was filed with the 

Clerk of Court on February 18,2016. 

The State's evidence was that Michael Garcia was found dead in the road on Technology 

Drive, in Inwood West Virginia. The State's witness, LaQuadia Grant testified that she was sitting 

in a car with Jucobe Johnson when she saw Tulsa Johnson and Vincent Smith running back to the 

car. She testified that she heard Tulsa Johnson state "I shot that mother f***er." She also reported 

seeing Vincent Smith wiping down a pistol with a red bandana. No witnesses at the trial reported 

hearing any gunshots. No witness at the trial reported anyone firing any weapon at Michael Garcia. 

No weapon was recovered. Michael Garcia's pockets were "turned out" when the body was 

processed at the crime scene. No one could testify as to how or why the pockets were turned out. 

The only witness who testified that Tulsa Johnson was planning on ''taking'' anything from 

Michael Garcia was Devon Adams. Devon Adams gave prior inconsistent statements to law 

enforcement and investigators. The Defendant maintains his innocence. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

There was insufficient evidence to support the Petitioner's conviction at trial. Rather the 

State relied on the lack of evidence and created a pyramid of inferences based on their own 

deductions ofwhat the evidence would show. There was no evidence to demonstrate that anything 

was taken from the Mr. Garcia. The State relied their case on what was not found on Mr. Garcia's 

person after he had died. There was simply insufficient evidence to support a conviction. 

Further, the State inferred its own deductions from the scientific evidence that did not meet 

the criteria readily accepted by the scientific community. The State also failed to make the labs 
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aware ofthe relevant facts ofthe case. There were two sets of identical twins involved in this case. 

That fact was not disclosed to the DNA analyst until during the trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The Respondent believes that the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in its 

brief and the record before the Court. However, if the Court desires oral arguments in this case, 

argument under Rule 20 would be appropriate. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The standard ofreview for rulings of the circuit court is fairly straight forward. The Court 

has previously cited that: "in reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, 

we apply a two-pronged deferential standard ofreview. We review the rulings of the circuit court 

concerning a new trial and its conclusions as to the existence of reversible evidence under an abuse 

ofdiscretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly 

erroneous standard. Questions oflaw are subject to a de novo review." State v. Kennedy, 229 W. 

Va. 756, 735 S.E. 2d 905 (2012). Citing Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Vance, 207 W. Va 640, 535 S.E. 2d 

484 (2000). The Court continued that: "it is well settled that a trial court's ruling on the 

admissibility of evidence, including those affecting constitutional rights are reviewed under an 

abuse ofdiscretion standard." Kennedy. 

ARGUMENT 

1. 	 The Court convicted Vincent Scott Smith Jr. of felony murder and conspiracy to commit 

robbery with insufficient evidence ofguilt. 

The petitioner acknowledges that challenging the sufficiency of the evidence is a mounting 

task. The Court found in Syllabus Point Four of McBride v. Lavigne, that: 
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"A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a 
conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the 
evidence whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the 
prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury 
might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be 
inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find 
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not 
an appellate court. Finally, ajury verdict should be set aside only when the record 
contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could 
find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are 
inconsistent, they are expressly overruled." McBride v. Lavigne, 230 W. Va. 291, 
737 S.E. 2d 560, 2012. Citing SyI. Pt. 3 of State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 
S.E. 2d 163 (1995). 

The State's evidence was all circumstantial. There was no direct physical evidence to tie 

Vincent Smith to the crime scene or to Michael Garcia. There was DNA swab taken from the rear 

ofMr. Garcia's vehicle but Mr. Smith could not be identified to an extent relied on by the scientific 

community. Mr. Smith could not be ruled out as a possible contributor to the sample that was 

taken. LaQuadia Grant testified that Johnson and Smith were running back to the car, but she 

could not testify that Mr. Smith ever fired a weapon or as to what allegedly took place. [AR 261

263.] [AR 348.] Grant admitted that she did not see what happened. [AR 333.] The State's key 

witness, Davon Adams, testified that he never saw anyone with a firearm. [AR 365.] 

2. 	 The prosecuting attorney erroneously argued in closing argument that DNA evidence 

identified the Defendant Vincent Scott Smith, Jr. when the actual DNA evidence simply 

failed to exclude him as a suspect in the case. 

The prosecuting attorney argued in her closing argument that Vincent Smith was identified as 

a suspect in Mr. Garcia's vehicle by DNA analysis. [AR 708-709.] This did not match the 

testimony of the trial testimony of the DNA analyst. She did testify that Vincent Smith could not 

be excluded as the source of the DNA evidence identified. [AR 289.] She further testified that the 

DNA matched at nine out of fifteen loci. [AR 289.] Six of the fifteen areas did not meet the 
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reportable threshold. [AR 298-299.] She testified that she did not have enough genetic 

information to determine a unique identification and could only testify that he could be not be 

excluded as a possible source ofthe genetic material. [AR 299.] In fact, on cross examination she 

agreed that she could not make a unique identification ofVincent Smith according to the generally 

accepted principles to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty. [AR 304.] 

In her final closing argument, the Prosecuting Attorney argued that they knew that Mr. Smith 

was in Mr. Garcia's vehicle from the DNA. [AR 708.] It was noted during the testimony of the 

analyst that Mr. Smith could not be excluded and that he could not be identified according to the 

reasonably accepted scientific certainty. [AR 304.] The Prosecuting Attorney continued to argue 

that odds of the match were one in 1.69 billion people. [AR 709.] She argued "What a 

coincidence." [AR 709.] This argument improperly allowed the jury to make a decision about the 

interpretation of the DNA analysis without the benefit of training and experience and without 

knowledge of the criteria that is generally acceptable to the scientific community to declare an 

identification. 

In State v . Wakefield, the Court reviewed the standard for considering scientific evidenced. 

The court cited that: 

''the first and universal requirement for the admissibility of scientific evidence is 
that the evidence is that the evidence must be both 'reliable' and 'relevant.' Under 
DaubertlWilt the reliability requirement is met only by a finding by the trial court 
under Rule 104(a) that the scientific or technical theory which is the basis for the 
test results is indeed 'scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge.' The trial 
court's determination regarding whether the scientific evidence is properly the 
scientific evidence is properly the subject of 'scientific, technical, or other 
specialized knowledge' is a question of law that we review de novo." 
State v. Wakefield, 236 W. Va. 445, 781 S.E. 2d 222,2015 

The DNA analyst was very clear that Mr. Smith could not be excluded as a contributor to the DNA 

sample, but could not be identified with the criteria that is readily acceptable to the scientific 

community. [AR 304.] Allowing the Prosecuting Attorney to argue that Mr. Smith was identified 

5 




as being in the vehicle goes too far and specifically allows the Prosecuting Attorney to rely on 

evidence that does not fall within the criteria sufficient for identification acceptable to the scientific 

community. This is an invitation for the jury to rely on evidence that parades as science, but 

admittedly does not meet the criteria for scientifically acceptable statistical identification. 

3. 	 There was no evidence to support a finding of robbery of Michael Garcia or that anything 

was taken from the person ofMichael Garcia before or after his death. 

The only evidence to support a fmding of robbery of Mr. Garcia is negative in nature. The 

Prosecuting Attorney argued that the evidence of a robbery was what was not found at the crime 

scene. They argue that his pockets were turned inside out. [AR 203.][AR 236-237.] He did not 

have a wallet, driver's license, cell phone, or any money. [AR 197.][AR 237.][AR 443-445.][AR 

533.][AR 555.] He also did not have any drugs on his person. [AR 445.][AR 555.] Sargent Hall 

testified that he had no idea how Garcia's pockets got turned out. [AR 566.] The Prosecuting 

Attorney argues that because these items were not found, there must have been a robbery. This is 

negative logic and argues that something must have happened based on the lack of evidence. 

4. 	 The only witness that testified to any elements of the alleged robbery gave prior 

inconsistent statements to Law Enforcement Officers and investigators. 

Davon Adams was the only witness to testify that Tulsa Johnson and Vincent Smith planned 

to ''take'' anything. [AR 360.] He testified "Pretty much from what I understood how it was told 

to me, that they were going to just pretty much going to take it from him." [AR 360.] He told them 

that the transaction could not occur in his house in an attempt to alert Garcia that they were going 

to "take" it from him. [AR 360-361.] He was asked about this statement on cross examination and 

testified, "Rob, see, that's not the word she used to me, they never said they were going to rob 
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him." [AR 373.] Adams did not mention anything about any taking or any robbery to Law 

Enforcement Officers in previous statements. [AR 579.] Devon Adams previously gave a 

statement to Investigator Zack Vaughn. Devon Adams never told him prior to trial that there was 

any concern about any robbery or taking. [AR 616-621.] He gave a previous statement that 

indicated that he was not concerned about anything bad that might happen. [AR 621.] He told the 

investigator that he did not feel comfortable with a narcotics transaction occurring with his children 

present. [AR 621-622.] This was never disclosed to the defense prior to trial and was not included 

in any discovery. To allow such testimony at trial is a clear discovery violation and created an 

unfair trial environment for the Petitioner. 

5. 	 The State did not properly inform the crime lab that multiple sets of twins were involved 

in this case, inviting error and flaws in the DNA analysis. 

The DNA analyst testified that the DNA material on item number 39 did come from Michael 

Garcia or his identical twin. [AR 290-291.] Michael Garcia did have an identical twin, Justin 

Garcia [AR 189.] Identical twins would have the same DNA and the DNA markers would match 

at the different loci. [AR 295.] She further testified that she would have like to have a sample from 

the identical twin to make sure they were identical. [AR 296.] However she was not provided that 

material. [AR 296.] The analyst testified that she would have liked to have had samples from any 

identical twins to analyze and see ifthe twins were actually identical. [AR 296.] The lab, however, 

was never informed or made aware that there were two sets ofidentical twins involved in this case. 

[AR 301.] [AR 340.] Again it appears that the State departed from the proper protocol for DNA 

evidence that is acceptable to the scientific community. 
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6. There is insufficient evidence to support a conviction of Felony Murder in the First 

Degree. 

The State went forward on a theory of delivery of controlled substance as the basis for felony 

murder. It was previously argued that there was insufficient evidence to prove a robbery based on 

the absence of evidence. There was also no evidence to support any allegation that the Petitioner 

was doing anything to deliver any narcotics. [AAR 588]. The West Virginia Code 61-2-1 defmes 

Felony Murder as "Murder ... in the commission of, or attempt to commit, arson, kidnapping, 

sexual assault, robbery, burglary, breaking and entering, escape from lawful custody, or a felony 

offense of manufacturing or delivering a controlled substance as defined in article four, chapter 

sixty-a of this code, is murder in the first degree." As such the statute does not allow for Felony 

Murder based on receipt ofcontrolled substance. The record is devoid of any suggestion that the 

Petitioner was engaged in any act that could be considered the delivery ofa controlled substance. 

CONCLUSION 

The evidence submitted to the jury in this case was insufficient to support a conviction. 

The State's pyramid of inferences based on the negative criteria ofwhat was not found at the crime 

scene was insufficient to support a conviction for felony murder and robbery. The only witness 

that testified about any "taking" gave previous inconsistent statements to law enforcement and an 

investigator for the defense. Further, the State failed to follow proper protocols for DNA evidence 

and argued it demonstrated DNA identification. The State's own DNA analyst testified that the 

petitioner could not be ruled out as a possible contributor to the sample and agreed that the statistics 

were insufficient to establish a DNA identification within the criteria acceptable to the scientific 

community.