PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


I, III, IV, AND VI. WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO 
SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT? 

II. WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S REMARKS IN CLOSING 
REGARDING THE DNA EVIDENCE SUBMITTED WERE 
PROPER? 

IV. WHETHER THE TESTIMONY OF WITNESS ADAMS 
DEMONSTRATED A VIOLATION OF DISCOVERY RULES? 

V. WHETHER THERE WAS ANY ERROR IN THE DNA 
ANALYSIS BASED ON THE FACT THAT THE VICTIM HAD 
AN IDENTICAL TWIN?

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

phone, wallet, or identification on his person or in the vehicle. [Id.] Detective Hall detailed the 

processing of the vehicle, including items seized and sent to the lab as well as swabs for DNA 

evidence and attempts to locate comparable fingerprints. [Id.] Detective Hall also stated that 

they searched two other vehicles belonging to Tulsa Johnson. [Id.] In one vehicle they 

discovered a .357 bullet and in the other discovered 5 .357 bullets. [Id.] Detective Hall further 

testified to other actions taken in the course ofhis investigation, such as interviewing witnesses. 

[Id.] 

LaQuadia Grant testified that she was with Tulsa Johnson on the day of the murder. [AR, 

249-271; 330-354.] She and Tulsa Johnson had grown up together and were good friends. [Id.] 

LaQuadia also testified that she was good friends with Michael Garcia. [Id.] She had called 

Michael at Tulsa's request in order to by heroin from him. [Id.] LaQuadia said that Tulsa also 

picked up Jacobe Johnson and the Petitioner, Vincent "Scotty" Smith while they were driving 

around that day. [Id.] LaQuadia detailed contact she had via phone with Michael Garcia that 

day. [Id.] She said they eventually decided to meet at Davon's apartment to buy the drugs. [Id.] 
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LaQuadia testified that Jacobe never came into the apartment. [Id.] She stated that she, Tulsa, 

Scotty and Michael entered Davon's house and everyone greeted each other, after which she 

went to the bathroom. [Id.] LaQuadia said when she came out of the bathroom, Tulsa and Davon 

were talking in his bedroom with the door pushed up. [Id.] When they came out of the bedroom, 

Davon told everyone they needed to leave. [Id.] When she asked him why and what was going 

on, he just shook his head. [Id.] She got the impression he did not want them to buy drugs in the 

house when his children were there. [Id.] LaQuadia testified that when they came out of the 

house, Jacobe was in the driver's seat ofTulsa's car and had moved it from where it was when 

they went inside. [Id.] She further testified that Tulsa and Scotty got into Michael's truck with 

him. [Id.] She then testified that later Jacobe asked her if there was another way out of the 

apartment complex and then she saw Tulsa and Scotty running toward the car on foot. [Id.] 

LaQuadia stated that Tulsa had her wig in her hand and said she had "killed that motherfucker." 

[Id.] Scotty was holding a gun and wiping it off with a red bandana. [Id.] They got into the car 

and Jacobe drove off. [Id.] LaQuadia said in the car they were talking about cleaning up 

everything and getting rid of all of the evidence making sure that they did not leave anything 

behind. [Id.] They dropped off LaQuadia and said they were going to go get rid of the gun 

because they did not want to drive around with it. [Id.] LaQuadia stated that she immediately 

talked to her mother about what had just happened, and she convinced her that she should go to 

the authorities and do the right thing. [Id.] 

Meredith Chambers from the West Virginia State Police lab's Biochemistry section 

testified that she conducted scientific testing for DNA on the materials provided by Det. Hall. 

[AR, 277-304.] She concluded that the Petitioner could not be excluded as the source of the 

DNA on the rear passenger side exterior of the victim's truck with a random match probability of 
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1 in 12.3 billion. [Id.] She was also able to conclude that the source of the DNA on the Corona 

bottle was that of the victim (or his identical twin since they would have the same DNA). [Id.] 

Further, she was able to detennine that there was a mix of DNA on the cup located inside the 

victim's truck. [Id.] She was able to exclude the Petitioner and LaQuadia Grant as contributors, 

but she was not able to exclude the victim or Tulsa Johnson. [Id.] 

Blake Reta from the West Virginia State Police lab's Firearms and Toolmarks section 

testified that he analyzed the fired bullets recovered from the victim's body, the fragments 

recovered from the scene of the crime, and the loaded cartridges found inside Tulsa Johnson's 

vehicle. [AR, 305-330.] He was able to concluded that the two bullets removed from the victim 

were fired by two separate firearms, both of which belonged to the ".38 caliber family." [Id.] 

He testified that they were consistent with .357s and.38 specials. [Id.] He was also able to 

conclude that the group offive loaded cartridges from Tulsa Johnson's vehicle were similar in 

type to the fired bullets, had a similar style cramp, similar material and both were copper jackets. 

[Id.] They were also all Armscor ammunition. [Id.] He was able to conclude that the singular 

.357 bullet found in the other vehicle ofTulsa Johnson was a different type of ammunition than 

was used in the murder [Id.] 

Davon Adams testified that on the date ofthe murder, Michael Garcia had called him and 

said he wanted to meet some people to sell them drugs and asked ifhe could use his place. [AR, 

354-376.] Davon told him he could. [Id.] He testified that Michael had on prior occasions sold 

him drugs, and he had previously let Michael use his apartment to meet people to sell to. [Id.] 

Davon stated that Michael, LaQuadia, Tulsa Johnson, and Scotty Smith arrived at his place and 

everyone greeted each other. [Id.] Davon testified that Tulsa Johnson took him aside and told 

him that he really shouldn't have people over to his house to do these types of things. [Id.] 
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Davon said that he responded that he had known Michael a long time and as long as he goes out 

to the laundry room, he did not have a problem with it. [Id.] Davon testified that Tulsa Johnson 

then indicated to him that it was not going to be a typical transaction and they were basically 

going to take the drugs from him. [Id.] Davon said at that point he indicated that in that case 

this definitely was not going to happen in his house and he walked back out and told everyone to 

leave because it was not going down in his house with his kids there. [Id.] Davon testified that 

he wanted to tell Michael what was happening, but they were standing right there the whole time. 

[Id.] Davon said he had hoped that him throwing them out would be enough to tip Michael off 

that something was not right. [Id.] Davon said Michael asked him why he was kicking them out 

and Davonjust said it was because his kids were there. [Id.] Davon stated that as they left, he 

saw Scotty and Tulsa get into Michaels's SUV with him, and they drove back toward the 

cornfield. [Id.] Davon testified that he tried to text and call Michael's cell phone once they got 

outside to try to warn him that it was not a good deal. [Id.] Davon said he tried Michael's phone 

for 25 or 30 minutes and then his daughter came in from playing outside and said that there were 

a bunch ofpolice cars outide. [Id.] 

Dr. Vemard Adams is a forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy on the victim, 

Michael Garcia. [AR, 379-401.] He stated that the victim was clothed but had no personal 

items. [Id.] He determined the cause ofdeath to be multiple gunshot wounds, one ofwhich 

perforated his heart. [Id.] He determined the cause of death to be homicide. [Id.] He recovered 

two bullets and some "projectile fragments" from the victim's body. [Id.] He further testified 

that the victim had several fresh abrasions in various places that could have been seen as signs of 

a struggle. [Id.] 

Koren Powers from the West Virginia State Police lab Trace Evidence Section testified 
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concerning the nature of gunshot residue evidence and that no gunshot residue was found from 

any source tested. [AR, 413-426.] 

Cpl. William Christian testified concerning his part in the investigation of the case, which 

included photographing and diagramming the scene and collecting evidence. [AR,426-535.] He 

stated that when he arrived on scene, he observed a black SUV in the roadway and a body laying 

to the rear of that vehicle. [Id.] He noted a disturbance in the gravel in the area. [Id.] He 

observed that the victim's pockets had been turned inside out and that there was gravel or dirt in 

some scrapes on the victim's knee and legs. [Id.] Cpl. Christian testified that they were unable to 

find any personal property ofthe victim on his person or in the vehicle. [Id.] In addition to his 

work processing and collecting evidence, Cpl.. Christian testified as to the phone records of 

LaQuadia Grant, Michael Garcia, Tulsa Johnson, and the Petitioner. [Id.] He was able to 

establish the amount and times of contact between the players and also the cell phone towers 

through which such contact was being processed. [Id.] He confirmed that Michael Garcia's 

personal effects, including his phone, were never found. [Id.] He further stated that no weapons 

had been recovered. [Id.] 

Jennifer Howard from the West Virginia State Police lab's Central Evidence Processing 

section testified in order to establish full chain of custody of the forensic evidence in this case. 

[AR, 535-544.] 

The testimony presented at trial clearly established that the Petitioner, Tulsa Johnson, and 

Jacobe Johnson planned to rob the victim, Michael Garcia. They used LaQuadia Grant to 

unwittingly set Michael up so that they could do it. Tulsa Johnson evidently had concerns about 

the presence ofDavon Adam's children in the area when they were about to do it because she 

tipped him offbeforehand so that he could remove himself and his family from the situation. 

10 




Witnesses testified that the Petitioner and Tulsa Johnson got into Michael Garcia's SUV and 

drove through the cornfield. The fact that Jacobe Johnson got into the driver's seat of Tulsa 

Johnson's car and asked LaQuadia Grant if there was another way out of the apartment complex 

showed that he knew they would have to make a quick getaway from the area upon their return. 

This further demonstrates they had planned the robbery ahead of time. After the Petitioner and 

Tulsa Johnson ran back from the cornfield, Tulsa Johnson stated openly to LaQuadia Grant that 

they had "killed that motherfucker," and LaQuadia observed the Petitioner wiping off a gun. 

They discussed cleaning up the scene and making sure they had not left anything behind. 

Michael Garcia's pockets had been turned inside out, and his personal items, including his phone 

which records show he had used that day leading up to the murder, were gone. Furthermore, the 

ammunition found in Tulsa Johnon's vehicle was consistent with the ammunition used to shoot 

and kill the victim. Additionally, ballistics testing showed that the two bullets recovered from 

the victim's body were actually fired by two different weapons. These multiple gunshot wounds 

were determined to be the cause of the victim's death. 

Clearly, there was sufficient evidence to establish a conspiracy between the Petitioner, 

Tulsa Johnson, and Jacobe Johnson to rob the victim, Michael Garcia. Furthermore, sufficient 

evidence, both direct and circumstantial, was introduced upon which the jury could have found 

and did find the Petitioner guilty of felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt. 1 Circumstantial 

I The State notes that it originally indicted the felony murder charge under two theories: that the death 
occurred in the course of a robbery or that the death occurred in the course ofthe delivery of a controlled 
substance. There was legal argument concerning whether the State could establish felony murder based 
on the delivery of a controlled substance since the victim was the seller and the defendants were the 
buyers. The State attempted to distinguish the crime of delivery of a controlled substance from the other 
enumerated offenses in the felony murder statute, as there can be no crime of delivery without the 
participation of the buyer. [AR, 588-596.] However, the parties did not argue or submit the felony 
murder count to the jury on the theory of delivery of a controlled substance. [AR, 597-599.] They jury 
was only asked to consider felony murder in the context ofa robbery, and there was sufficient evidence to 
prove the Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Any allegation of error lodge by the Petitioner 
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evidence is still evidence, and, in this matter especially, the evidence was compelling. 

In sum, there was sufficient evidence, both direct and circumstantial, taken in the light 

most favorable to the prosecution and crediting all inferences and credibility assessments that the 

jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution, upon which the jury could have and did find 

the Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Guthrie, supra.; State v. Miller, supra. 

II. 	 THE PROSECUTOR'S REMARKS IN CLOSING REGARDING THE 
DNA EVIDENCE SUBMITTED WERE PROPER. 

A. Standard of Review 

"Four factors are taken into account in determining whether 
improper prosecutorial comment is so damaging as to require 
reversal: (1) the degree to which the prosecutor's remarks have a 
tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the accused; (2) 
whether the remarks were isolated or extensive; (3) absent the 
remarks, the strength of competent proof introduced to establish 
the guilt of the accused; and (4) whether the comments were 
deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous 
matters." 

SyI. Pt. 6, State v. Sugg, 193 W. Va. 388,456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). 

"A judgment of conviction will not be set aside because of 
improper remarks made by a prosecuting attorney to a jury which 
do not clearly prejudice the accused or result in manifest injustice." 

SyI. Pt. 5, State v. Sugg, 193 W. Va. 388,456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). 

B. Discussion 

During trial, there was evidence presented through an expert witness that DNA found on 

the victim's vehicle was consistent with the Petitioner's DNA. [AR, 277-304 *289.] The expert 

testified that the Petitioner could not be excluded as the contributor of that DNA with a random 

match probability of 1 in 12.3 billion. [Id.] While significant, she testified that she did not have 

with regard to the felony murder theory of delivery ofa controlled substance is moot because the circuit 
court did not allow the State to present felony murder to the jury on that legal theory. This Court, 
therefore, should deny the Petitioner relief pursuant to his sixth allegation of error. 
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enough genetic information to determine a unique identification, and could only say that the 

Petitioner could not be excluded as the source of that DNA. [Id.] 

In the rebuttal argument of the State's closing, the prosecutor began to argue all of the 

ways the State had shown that the Petitioner was in the victim's vehicle on the night of the 

murder. [AR, 708.] Since there was a mention of DNA analysis just before this, Petitioner's 

counsel objected and a sidebar was convened wherein Petitioner's counsel wanted to insure that 

the prosecutor was not about to argue that the DNA evidence conclusively established that the 

Petitioner had contributed that DNA since the expert testified only that the DNA was consistent 

with the Petitioner's and that the Petitioner could not be excluded as the source of that DNA. 

The court ruled that it would allow the prosecutor to make reasonable inferences from the 

evidence presented concerning the random match probability that was testified to by the expert. 

[AR,708-709.] The prosecutor went on to argue that the Petitioner could not be excluded and 

recounted the statistical probability analysis before stating the sample belonging to someone 

other than the Petitioner would be "quite a coincidence" with that information. [AR,709.] The 

prosecutor went on to argue that"...while not a smoking gun, the DNA is important in this 

particular instance ... " [AR, 710.] 

Clearly, the prosecutor's argument regarding the DNA analysis was wholly proper. Still 

analyzing it under fu!gg, she did not mislead the jury. She stated only that the Petitioner could 

not be excluded as the source of that DNA evidence but that was still important evidence for the 

jury to consider not only because the analysis did not exclude the Petitioner but because it did 

exclude certain other individuals. [AR, 708-710.] There was no prejudice to the Petitioner 

shown.2 Furthermore, Petitioner's counsel preemptively objected to the prosecutor's argument 

2 In fact, the prosecuting attorney confused the numbers testified to by the expert and argued in closing 
that there was a 1 in 1.69 billion random match probability to the Petitioner when the expert actually 
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in rebuttal in anticipation that she was going to state that the DNA was found conclusively to 

match the Petitioner's DNA, which she never stated. Any implication of that was isolated. As 

discussed above, there was compelling evidence of guilt in this case. Finally, the argument of 

the prosecutor was not concerning extraneous matters not properly before the jury. State v. 

fu!gg, supra. The Petitioner was not prejudiced by the prosecutor's argument nor was there any 

resultant manifest injustice. State v. Sugg, supra. 

IV. 	 THE TESTIMONY OF WITNESS ADAMS DOES NOT SUPPORT THE 
PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT THAT THERE WERE VIOLATIONS OF 
DISCOVERY RULES. 

The State begins by noting that it is unclear exactly what allegation oferror the Petitioner 

is making under his fourth assignment oferror. The Petitioner states in that subheading only that 

''the only witness that testified to any elements of the alleged robbery gave prior inconsistent 

statements to Law Enforcement Officers and investigators." The Petitioner also offers no law in 

support ofany allegation under this subheading. 

To the extent that the Petitioner is alleging that there was insufficient evidence to sustain 

the jury's verdicts of guilt, that allegation is addressed above. 

To the extent that the Petitioner alleges a violation of the discovery rules, it is clear that 

there was none. The Petitioner does not allege that the State failed to provide him with any prior 

written or recorded statements taken by law enforcement from the witness. In fact, the defemse 

references the witness's statements to law enforcement that they received from the State in cross 

examination ofthe witness and in making arguments both at trial and in the appellate brief. The 

Petitioner also does not allege that the State failed to disclose the witness or his contact 

information so that the witness could be contacted in the Petitioner's defense. In fact, the 

testified that there was a 1 in 12.3 billion random match probability to the Petitioner. The evidence 
presented was even stronger than the prosecutor recounted in her argument. 
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Petitioner notes that the witness also gave a statement to a defense investigator, Mr. Vaughn, as 

well. Mr. Vaughn testified at trial for the defense and was permitted, over the State's objection, 

to testify concerning statements the witness had made to him. [AR, 615-623.] The Petitioner 

simply alleges that the witness's statements and testimony contained inconsistencies. That is not 

a discovery violation. 

Moreover, in examining the statements and testimony, the witness was not inconsistent. 

He consistently stated that he did not want them to have this drug transaction in his home with 

his children present. [AR, 354-376.] No one who had interview the witness prior to trial has 

asked him ifhe had ever allowed the victim to conduct drug transactions in his home before 

(which he had) or why this occasion was different than those prior occasions. Still, even when 

cross examined concerning his prior statements and alleged inconsistenies, the witness continued 

to state that the defendants did not use the word "rob" or explicitly state they were going to rob 

the victim. [AR, 373.] Instead, he testified that he got the impression from their statements that 

it may not be a run-of-the-mill drug transaction, and he did not want it occurring in his home 

where his children were. [AR, 354-376; 578-580, 583-584; 615-623.] The Petitioner's 

testimony was not inconsistent with his prior statements but did include further detail as to his 

actions on that date and the reasons for those actions. Petitioner's counsel was able to cross 

examine the witness using his prior statements to both law enforcement and Mr. Vaughn. The 

Petitioner was also able to argue any perceived differences in the witness's testimony with his 

prior statements before the jury in closing. 

In sum, there is simply no demonstration that there was any sort ofa discovery violation 

in this case. 
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v. THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE DNA ANALYSIS BASED UPON THE 

EXISTNECE OF AN IDENTICAL TWIN OF THE VICTIM. 

The Petitioner alleges that the fact that victim had an identical twin somehow spoiled the 

DNA evidence in the case. He alleges that the State "departed from the proper protocol for DNA 

evidence that is acceptable to the scientific community," but he cites absolutely no basis in the 

law or in the testimony of the expert witness for such an allegation. 

Forensic testing revealed that the DNA on a bottle of Corona at the crime scene came 

from either the victim or his identical twin since identical twins would have the same DNA and 

the DNA markers of those twins would match at the different loci. [AR, 277-304 *291.] While 

the expert testified that "she would have liked" to have had a sample from the twin just to 

confirm that they were in fact identical, she did not testify that not having done that departed 

from any protocol or rendered invalid any testing that had been performed with regard to that 

DNA. [AR, 277-304.] She could only state that the DNA matched the victim and his identical 

twin and could have been deposited by either. The evidence was presented to the jury in that 

manner, and the Petitioner was able to cross examine the expert about the issue and argue any 

relevant inference related to that DNA evidence. The Petitioner demonstrates no error in the 

introduction of this evidence nor did the Petitioner object to the introduction of that evidence at 

trial. Case law is clear that "[g]enerally the failure to object constitutes a waiver of the right to 

raise the matter on appeal." State v. Asbury. 187 W. Va. 87, 91, 415 S.E.2d 891, 895 (1992). 
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CONCLUSION 


For the foregoing reasons, this Court is respectfully requested to affinn the conviction 

and sentence ofthe Petitioner and deny the Petition for Appeal. 

eryl . aV111, Esq. 
Assi t rosecuting Attorney 
State B 0.: 9362 
380 W. South Street, Ste. 1100 
Martinsburg, West Virginia 25401 
304-264-1971 
csaville@berkeleywv.org